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INVESTMENT RETURN OF INVESTMENT
AND SHARIAH FUND, 2017-2021

MONTHLY CONTRIBUTION AVERAGE AND 
ANNUAL CONTRIBUTION GROWTH RATE
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REVIEW
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The year 2021, marked by  return to post-covid 
normality, was a year of recovery for the Maldives. 
The economic rebound in the latter half of 2020 
carried its momentum into the year, bolstered by the 
reopening of significant markets. Led by the tourism 
industry, other major industries within the nation saw 
sustained growth. This was evident by the growth in 
MRPS membership and pension contributions, which 
reached an all time high of MVR 1.25 million in 2021, 
outperforming the year 2020 by 11.9%.

MRPS funds maintained returns above their 
pre-pandemic levels in 2021. The Investment Fund 
maintained stable returns above 5% during the year 
and in 2019 despite the significant economic decline. 
Returns from the Shariah fund increased significantly 
compared to the past 2 years following receipt of 2 
year’s delayed dividend payment from MIB (owing to 
dividend deferment due to the pandemic).

Some of the planned activities of 2021 were 
impacted by the continuing health emergency 
declared by the government. With the emergence of 
new COVID variants, and the rise of number cases in 
Male’, we resumed working from home practices 
during periods of lockdowns. Despite  working from 
home we continued to deliver our services without 
disruptions, making prompt payments to our 
members and beneficiaries. 

Monthly Contribution Average 
(MVR, millions)

Annual Contribution Growth 
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Much work on the development of the new employer 
portal Koshaaru was carried out during the lockdown 
and the successfully launched new Koshaaru Portal 
in December. Koshaaru is a major milestone in our 
work towards providing seamless and integrated 
services. As the first completely digital customer 
service platform, developed and launched in the 
Maldives, Kohsaaru offers employers and members 
access to all our services from anywhere at any time.

With the former CEO joining our team, discussions 
were held on the strategic focus of the organisation 
and the options for improving member experiences. 
Stakeholder consultations were carried out in 
defining the strategic direction of the organisation. 

As 2021 ends, we are geared towards development 
of our Strategic Plan for the next 3 years. This Plan 
would pave the way in our efforts to remain a trusted 
organisation that aims to work at the best interest of 
our members and stakeholders. 

The launch of our new Koshaaru 
Portal in December was a major 
milestone in our work towards 

providing seamless and integrated 
services. This is the first completely 
digital customer service platform in 

the Maldives.
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To be the most trusted, 
respected, and loved public 
institution in the Maldives

OUR CORE VALUES

OUR MISSION

The future income security 
and income stability of all 
our people are assured 
upon their retirement. 

Manage Maldives Retirement Pensions Scheme 
(MRPS)

Deliver exceptional pension services

Establish outstanding communication and 
awareness

Set high standards and benchmarks for 
pension

Passion, dynamism 
and determination 
to deliver the best 
results for members 
and ensure every 
one operates at full 
capacity.

EXCELLENCE
Set remarkably high 
standards of 
honesty and 
transparency and 
preserve 
impeccable image 
nationally and 
internationally.

INTEGRITY
Committed to 
openness and share 
frequently, simply 
and clearly.

COMMUNICATION
Culture of lively 
debate, respect for 
the opinions of 
others, humility and 
a commitment to 
continuous learning 
and helpfulness.

TEAM SPIRIT
Value people who 
generate, foster and 
present ideas and 
find new ways to 
interpret and 
understand 
surroundings and 
emerging trends.

INNOVATION

We endeavor to:
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TOTAL NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYERS 
CONTRIBUTING TO  
MRPS

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

53.52%

2,012 3,089

TOTAL 
CONTRIBUTION TO 
THE MRPS

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

9.09%

1.12B 1.24B

TOTAL NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES 
CONTRIBUTING TO 
MRPS

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

19.81%

94,916 113,721

PRIVATE SECTOR 
CONTRIBUTION TO  
MRPS 

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

14.67%

634M 727M

AVERAGE MONTHLY 
CONTRIBUTION TO 
MRPS

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

10.76%

93M 103M

PUBLIC SECTOR 
CONTRIBUTION TO  
MRPS 

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

5.14%

486M 511M

TOTAL PENSION 
DISBURSED TO MRPS 
MEMBERS

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

20.59 %

102M 123M

NO. OF MRPS 
BENEFICIARIES AT 
THE END OF THE 
YEAR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

13.10%

1,328 1,502

TOTAL BASIC 
PENSION 
DISBURSED

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

19.81%

1.03B 1.09B

ASSETS UNDER 
MANAGEMENT
(INCLUDING 
ACCRUEDRIGHTS / 
RECOGNITION BOND) 

PERFORMANCE OF MRPS FUNDS

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

12.26 %

15.5B 17.4B

REGISTERED MOBILE 
APP USERS

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

30.25%

54,589 71,100

PENSION 
CONTRIBUTION 
AMOUNT RECOVERED 
FROM CONCLUDED 
LEGAL CASES

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2021

57.14%

1.48M 3.62M
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Investment 12,832 5.03%

Sharia 372 5.78%

Conservative 456 4.44%

Sharia Conservative 7.85 3.38%

MRPS Funds
Net Assets
(MVR, in millions)

Returns

2021

5.24%

3.67%

4.39%

3.29%

2020

6.34%

3.00%

5.35%

3.34%

Recognition Bond 3,732 4.95% 4.80% 5.28%

Since Inception
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Maldives Pension Administration Office (“Pension 
Office”) came into existence following ratification of 
the Maldives Pension Act (“Pension Act”) on 13th 
May 2009 by the President.

The Pension Office is an independent legal entity 
with perpetual succession, having a separate seal, 
possessing the power to sue and be sued in its own 
name and having the right to acquire, hold and 
dispose of movable and immovable assets in 
accordance with the law and to make undertakings in 
its own capacity. 

The Pension Act mandates Pension Office to carry 
out the following functions:

Administer and manage Pension 
Schemes established under the 
Pension Act

(ISO/IEC 27001:2013) Management of Information 
Security provision (6th March 2020)Provide Retirement Pension

Pay Old-Age Basic Pension 

Conduct awareness programmes on 
schemes established under the Pension 
Act

Formulate regulations, standards and 
guidelines to operate schemes 
established under the Pension Act

In addition to the aforementioned functions, 
Pension Office serves as the central agency for the 
disbursement of various state funded pensions and 
benefits to retirees.

KEY FUNCTIONS OF PENSION 
OFFICE

INTERNATIONAL 
ACCREDITATIONS

ISO CERTIFICATION

ISSA Guidelines on Contribution, Collection and 
Compliances (edition 2016) - August 2020

ISSA CERTIFICATION

contribution, 
collection & 
compliance 2020
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“Internal and external 
stakeholders are 
critical to our success 
and are a core 
element in the 
growth of the 
institution. 
Understanding the 
views of stakeholders’ 
assists our 
decision-making 
processes and helps 
drive progress towards 
the achievement of our 
aims and objectives.” 

Chairperson of the Board
ATHIFA ALI
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In the investment front, Pension Office continued 
to work closely with financial industry 
stakeholders to develop the appetite for pension 
fund investment. Discussions were initiated to 
explore the opportunities to diversify the 
investment base. Additionally, as part of this 
effort, despite the many challenges, the Board 
looks forward to evolving our investment risk 
appetite and investment framework. Similar to the 
past year we will continue with our aim to widen 
the range of investments available to MRPS, 
enhance future investment returns and ensure our 
pension fund is recognised as active in assets 
vital to nation building. 

Another important aspect is the engagement with 
the stakeholders as they are critical to our 
success and is a core element in the growth of the 
institution. Understanding the views of 
stakeholders’ assists our decision-making 
processes and helps drive progress towards the 
achievement of our aims and objectives. 

In this regard, regular engagement with 
stakeholders remained at the center of the 
Board’s deliberations. Through the strategic 
planning process which was initiated at the 
beginning of the year, the Board facilitated 
detailed discussions with the key stakeholders to 
foster effective communication and maintain 
mutually beneficial relationships. Considerable 
progress was made in collaborating, particularly 
with Government agencies, financial institutions, 
employers and clients.

The pandemic of 2020 played an important role in 
enhancing the online services capacity, enabling a 
drive to develop new technology initiatives by the 
team. In order to better manage the services 
provided by the Pension Office and to address the 
critical shortcomings identified during the 
pandemic, the team re-engineered the employer 
portal used by employers to access Pension 
Office systems online. In this regard, our new 
Koshaaru Portal, launched in December 2021 was 
a major milestone in the history of the Pension 
Office.  

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is my 
pleasure to present the 2021 annual report of the 
Maldives Pension Administration Office for the 
year ending December 31, 2021. We are proud of 
being a trusted, respected and a loved institution 
and most importantly of the critical role we play in 
the wider society. Guided by a clear purpose, we 
believe that the Maldives Pension Administration 
Office has a positive and significant impact on our 
people and the economy as a whole. 

2021 was largely a year of growth and continued 
transformation for the Pension Office. While 
COVID-19 continued to impact us all, we are very 
pleased to note that the Pension Office continued 
its long tradition of providing excellent service to 
members, maintained stable returns in its 
investments and accomplished a number of 
noteworthy transformational initiatives in 2021.

The Pension Office is well positioned with over 12 
years of establishment. Nationwide service 
offering, technological advancements, significant 
investments in our infrastructure in recent years 
provide a strong foundation to build on. In 
addition, the automation of our processes 
presented new opportunities to work with our 
members. Assets of the pension fund have grown 
to MVR 17.4 Billion and over 113,721 individuals 
have contributed to the fund. During 2021, 
pension contributions exceeded MVR 1.24 Billion 
and pension benefits of over 123 Million was 
disbursed to beneficiaries. Pension Office mobile 
application has already been installed over 71,100 
nationwide and offers all the services provided by 
the institution.

The Board believes that the renewed focus on 
investment diversification & digitalization will 
enable the Pension Office to capitalize on the 
opportunities to drive sustainable benefits for our 
members and future growth. In this regard,  some 
notable efforts were made to enhance member 
benefits especially, in exploring the options for 
annuity products and terminal illness benefits for 
our members.
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The matter remained unresolved at the 
Employment Tribunal by the end of the year. The 
Board also identified some skill gaps in key areas 
and started work to address these skill gaps as a 
matter of priority.
I would also like to extend my thanks to our Acting 
CEO, Ms. Sujatha Haleem and our Executive Team 
for their efforts throughout the challenging year. 
Many thanks to my colleagues at the Board for 
their generous support and considerable 
contributions. I would also like to thank the 
outgoing Board members for their contributions. 

Finally, I would like to express my sincere 
appreciation to all of our members for their 
continued support as we continue to chart our 
course through these most unusual of times. At 
the Pension Office, we are committed to 
continuing to create substantial value for our 
members and I look forward to support from all 
stakeholders as we continue to deliver on the 
strategic and operational excellence objectives.

As we head towards achieving our strategic 
objectives, I believe that we will continue to 
improve and make significant contributions 
towards ensuring social security and wellbeing of 
the Maldivian people and the growth of our 
economy. The Board is looking forward to the 
value that the Pension Office will continue to 
create for its members and beneficiaries 
throughout their working careers and their 
retirements.

The Board has continued supporting the delivery 
of the key services through technological 
advancements and contributed in the 
development of policies and strategies during 
2021 in its role of assisting the management with 
the governance and administration of the Pension 
Office. As I look at how we completed the 
financial year 2021, inevitably, our performance 
has been significantly impacted by the pandemic 
in certain areas. However, I am pleased to note  
our performance remained  creditable and we 
continued our efforts to deliver on key strategic 
initiatives. 

Responsibility for good governance rests with the 
Board; this is underpinned by an effective 
governance framework which, the Board believes, 
fits the requirements. At the core of our good 
governance practices is to remain transparent by 
disclosing pertinent information to the public in a 
timely manner. Equally as important is to establish 
a sound structure to determine, manage and 
monitor the risks faced by the Pension Office and 
the MRPS. In this respect, systematic internal 
audits were carried out as scheduled in 2021. 
Additionally, our learning and understanding from 
our global leaders continued unabated mainly 
through virtual channels. 

I am pleased to note the progress Pension Office 
Pension Office has made over the last couple of 
years in spite of the challenges faced by the 
pandemic. The Pension Office has progressively 
delivered on its strategy in that time. While it 
hasn’t been without challenges, we are now in a 
sustainable position, which is also reflected in the 
rapid growth of member contribution. The Board 
further recognizes the challenges to the current 
pension system, but is confident with the 
dedication and commitment of the team leading 
the Pension Office. Unfortunately, we faced some 
setbacks in progress during the year  with the 
departure of CEO, John Griandall as the Board 
made the decision to terminate his contract. 

10
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Acting CEO / Chief Operating Officer (COO)
SUJATHA HALEEM

Over the past  year as we continued to endure the 
COVID-19 pandemic and adjusted our stride to 
the ‘new normal’, we achieved commendable 
progress on a number of fronts. We also remained 
steadfast in prudently managing the Maldives 
Retirement Pension Scheme at the best interest of 
our members. 

During the year 2021, notable growth was 
observed in member contributions and new 
memberships to the scheme. Though 
contributions declined with the onset of the 
pandemic, the effect rebounded and surpassed 
pre-COVID levels by the end of 2021. Our assets 
under management have increased by 12.26% to 
MVR 17.4 billion and the scheme on average 
earned a return above 5%. 

Throughout the year we continued to strengthen 
our presence through a multitude of mediums 
whereby we raised awareness of pensions and 
savings and disseminated information on the 
pension system of the Maldives. We also 
collaborated with stakeholders as part of our 
corporate social responsibility. In terms of 
regulatory developments, the Regulation on 
Determining Pensionable Wage was revised and 
gazetted during the first quarter of the year. Our 
efforts to strengthen compliance were challenged 
due to movement restrictions. However, we 
utilized digital mediums to ascertain compliance 
to Pension Act and regulations. 
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I am very proud of the way our team supported 
each other through a difficult and challenging 
year. Our team of 62 employees showed 
incredible resilience and ensured that our 
members and customers received outstanding 
services. 

My special gratitude to employers for their 
extraordinary efforts in complying with our 
requirements and promptly paying the due 
contributions. 

I convey my sincere acknowledgement and 
gratitude to our stakeholders for their continued 
support and cooperation. On the same note, I 
wholeheartedly appreciate the generous 
assistance and technical guidance invariably 
provided to us by the World Bank and other 
international organizations. 

I assure the members of the Maldives Retirement 
Pension Scheme that the Pension Office is 
committed to provide a secure retirement and 
better benefits whilst upholding the basic tenets 
of keeping the scheme financially sustainable and 
protected from undue risk to member outcomes. I 
wish our members, stakeholders and the nation a 
prosperous year blessed with accelerated growth 
and wellness. 

In 2021 we accelerated our digital transformation 
and launched the first fully digital customer 
service platform (Koshaaru) in the Maldives. Built 
on four key principles; accessibility, reliability, 
convenience and security, Koshaaru provides 
access to all our services at any time from 
anywhere. The platform contains customized 
interfaces for employers and members allowing 
seamless navigation on any device. 

Our focus on digital solutions have also paved the 
way for us to make benefit payments to our 
members and beneficiaries without any 
hindrances. 

As 2022 unfolds and we move into post-covid 
normality and economic recovery, I believe that 
the pandemic accelerated notable changes. 
Services do not need to be confined to a physical 
space and the future looks more positive with 
digital solutions and resilient people. We plan to 
sustain the momentum and stay true to our core 
values that embeds innovation and excellence as 
key aspects of our culture. 

Embarking on our 14th year of service, we aspire 
to drive a high performance culture. I am hopeful 
that 2022 would be a pivotal year for our 
employees, our members, beneficiaries and 
stakeholders. Our investment outlook is focused 
on seeking long-term investments and increased 
returns. We are geared towards development of 
our Strategic Plan for the next 3 years that would 
guide us to new heights in expanding our services 
and benefit propositions. We will continue to 
strengthen our risk management that would 
warrant us to be in a robust position to face any 
adverse events. We also plan to leverage the 
power of data analytics and prioritize data driven  
decisions. 

I take this opportunity to offer my deepest 
gratitude to the Chairperson of the Board and our 
Board Members for their continued guidance and 
support in realizing our goals.
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Chief Executive Officer

Board Members

Innovation &
 Technology
 Committee

Audit & Risk
Management 
Committee

Remuneration &
 Nomination
Committee

Investment
Committee

Pension Administration
& Technology

Coporate Affairs &
Public Relations

Investments &
Financial Management

Internal
Audit

Pension &
Claims

Collection &
Compliance

Data &
Application

Executive
Bureau

Corporate
Affairs

Legal
Affairs

Public
Relations

Member
Services

Research &
Analytics

Investment &
Advisory Services

Investment
Operations

Financial Management
& Control

Female
Male

44.3%
55.7%

STAFF

Female
Male

42.9% 57.1%

SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT

OUR TEAM GENDER

TALENT MANAGEMENT

INTERNATIONAL

LOCAL

IN HOUSE

Participation in seminars, workshops, training 
and forums

05 Staff
05 Programs

22 Staff
05 Programs

45 Staff
02 Programs
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As per Section 7 (a) of the Pension Act, the Pension Office is financed through an administrative fee 
charged on the RSA balance of MRPS members. Depicted below are the administrative fee, annual 
income and annual expenditure for the year.

0.60 %
ADMINISTRATIVE FEE

MVR 76,891,474
ANNUAL INCOME

MVR 36,965,609
ANNUAL EXPENDITURE
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Under the Pension Act, Pension Office administers four pension schemes, namely: 

Additionally, Pension Office disburses other Pension benefits under an arrangement with the Ministry of Finance.

MALDIVES RETIREMENT PENSION 
SCHEME (MRPS)

OLD-AGE BASIC PENSION 
SCHEME (BP)

COLLATERALIZATION OF MRPS FUNDS 
FOR HOUSING FINANCE SCHEME

UTILIZATION OF RSA BALANCE 
FOR HAJJ
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme (MRPS)
The primary objective of MRPS is to ensure 
individuals save during employment, to cater for their 
livelihood in retirement and ultimately creating 
financial independence. MRPS is a defined 
contributory pension scheme administered with a 
contribution of 14 percent of the pensionable wage, 
contributed equally by both employees and 
employers. The members of this scheme receive 
investment returns in addition to the contributions. 

Following are the details of contributions, enrollment 
of employees and employers in MRPS as at 31st 
December 2021.

*SOE's included under Private sector

January 1,488 9.41 Million

February 1,765 10.24 Million

March 1,495 9.55 Million

April 1,494 9.42 Million

May 1,482 10.95 Million

June 1,482 10.05 Million

July 1,450 10.13 Million

August 1,463 10.45 Million

September 1,481 11.26 Million

October 1,468 8.62 Million

November 1,473 9.29 Million

December 1,483 14.04 Million

Pension Month Beneficiaries Payouts

Private
Public

511 Million
727 Million

TOTAL
CONTRIBUTIONS

1.24 Billion
*SOE's included under Private sector

EMPLOYEES

110,914

Private
Public

44,881 66,033

WITH ACTIVE ENROLLMENTS

CONTRIBUTIONS TO MRPS

MRPS BENEFICIARIES

ACTIVE EMPLOYERS AND EMPLOYEES
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

BENEFICIARIES PER 
MONTH (AVERAGE)

BENEFICIARIES PER MONTH (AVERAGE)

1,502

TOTAL DISBURSED 
AMOUNT (MVR)
123 Million

EMPLOYERS
WITH ACTIVE ENROLLMENTS

3,091

465

2,626
Public
Private

16
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Old-Age Basic
Pension Scheme (BP)
Old-Age Basic Pension Scheme (BP) is designed to 
provide financial security for individuals who had no 
access to pensionable income prior to retirement 
age. This scheme is a lifelong pension benefit, fully 
funded by the Government, provided to all Maldivian 
citizens who have reached the age of 65, subject to 
meeting the eligibility criteria of the scheme.

January 18,788 89.02 Million

February 18,884 89.77 Million

March 19,003 90.40 Million

April 19,044 90.46 Million

May 19,072 90.68 Million

June 19,059 90.60 Million

July 19,106 90.80 Million

August 19,169 91.50 Million

September 19,225 91.79 Million

October 19,297 91.98 Million

November 19,283 91.96 Million

December 19,331 92.38 Million 

Pension Month Beneficiaries Payouts

SUMMARY

BENEFICIARIES PER 
MONTH (AVERAGE)

MONTHLY BP PAYOUTS

19,105

TOTAL DISBURSED 
AMOUNT (MVR)
1.09 Billion

Collateralization of RSA
Balance for Housing 
Finance
This scheme is administered in collaboration with 
mortgage finance providers. Under this scheme, 
members are able to pledge their MRPS balance as 
an equity component for purchasing homes through 
such financing schemes.

BML 26 6.00 Million

MIB 2 0.56 Million

Total 28 6.56 Million 

Financial Institution Members Amount

SUMMARY

APPLICATIONS 
RECEIVED

COLLATERALIZED AMOUNT BASED ON 
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

17

MEMBERS WHO 
COLLATERALIZED 
THEIR FUNDS
28

TOTAL 
COLLATERALIZED 
AMOUNT
6.56 Million

17
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Disbursement of
Other Pension
Under a Memorandum of Understanding executed 
between the Pension Office and the Ministry of 
Finance, State Other Pensions are disbursed by the 
Pension Office since April 2011.

January 7,179 26.93 Million

February 7,167 25.22 Million

March 7,165 25.32 Million

April 7,198 28.56 Million

May 7,164 26.47 Million

June 7,143 24.78 Million

July 7,168 25.40 Million

August 7,139 25.38 Million

September 7,137 27.30 Million

October 7,156 24.20 Million

November 7,138 28.15 Million

December 7,148 27.93 Million

Pension Month Beneficiaries Payouts

SUMMARY

BENEFICIARIES PER 
MONTH (AVERAGE)

MONTHLY OTHER PENSION PAYOUTS

7,158

TOTAL DISBURSED 
AMOUNT (MVR)
315 Million

Utilization of RSA
Balance for Hajj

With the restriction on Hajj 
pilgrimage due to COVID-19, 
no funds were released under 
this scheme during the year. 
However, applications of 
members requesting to 
reserve funds to secure Hajj 
allocation through Hajj 
Corporation were processed. 

This scheme approves the utilisation of member’s 
(MRPS) pension fund balance towards performing 
obligatory Hajj pilgrimage. This scheme is 
administered with parties approved by the Ministry of 
Islamic Affairs.

HAJJ RESERVATION 
APPLICATIONS RECEIVED FOR 
RSA - 2021

APPLICATIONS 
RECEIVED
53

RSA RESERVED 
AMOUNT
2.97 Million

18
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Various activities are undertaken by the Pension 
Office in administering pensions and broadening the 
scope of services provided to our members, 
beneficiaries and stakeholders. The main activities 
undertaken by respective departments during the 
year 2021 are outlined below.

19
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Compliance
Collection and Compliance Department is mandated 
with receiving MRPS contribution from employers and 
reconciling contribution to RSA of members, ensuring 
employers compliance with Pension Act and 
regulations and taking action against non-compliers.

Numerous inspections were carried out to ascertain 
employers compliance with the Pension Act and 
relevant regulations during the year. Following are the 
details of such inspections. 

Unregistered employers 89 131

Not enrolling employees 83 60

Not declaring contributions 1,130 356

Not making pension contributions 1,302 547

Total 2,604 1,094

Non-Compliance
Notification First Final

220

143

1,486

1,849

3,698

Total

NON-COMPLIANT NOTICES ISSUED

116

51

Legal Action

No Door to door inspections 
were carried out in 2021 due 
to COVID19- restrictions and 
safety measures.

The Pension Office continued to afford leniency to 
non-compliant employers as the State of Public 
Health Emergency declared on 12th March 2020 was 
still in effect. Accordingly, the period of payment 
extension to settle pending pension contributions 
was increased and employers were advised to make 
use of such arrangements.

Legal action was only initiated against employers who 
failed to respond or utilise the additional 
opportunities granted to be in compliance with the 
law.

The Legal Affairs Department received 59 new cases 
in 2021 to recover outstanding pension contributions 
amounting to MVR 4.39 million. Following are the 
details of action taken against the 59 non-compliant 
employers:

In addition, 35 judgment enforcement cases were 
submitted to the Civil Court during the year. 

Including new claims initiated during the year and 
ongoing cases from past years, a total of 57 cases 
were concluded in 2021. Through the concluded 
cases MVR 3.63 million were recovered.

cases against employers were registered 
and proceedings held in Civil Court

LEGAL ACTION AGAINST 
NON-COMPLIANT EMPLOYERS

PLANNED  AND AD 
HOC INSPECTIONS

59

NUMBER OF CASES 
HANDED TO LEGAL 
AFFAIRS TO INITIATE 
LEGAL ACTION

04 employers settled out of court

03
case files were returned to the Collections 
and Compliance Department due to 
procedural issues

01 case was on hold as the employer 
obtained payment extension

20



Maldives Pension Administration Office Annual Report 2021

A case was filed against the Pension Office in Civil 
Court on 12 December 2021 claiming for backdated 
payment of Basic Pension on account of the claimant 
changing the date of birth. This case was in the trial 
stage when the year ended. 

The Fuvahmulah Magistrate Court made the Pension 
Office a party to an ongoing case as an intervenor on 
23 March 2021. This claim was filed against the 
Fuvahmulah City Council regarding Basic Pension 
form submission. The Court closed the case on 22 
September 2021 and did not make any orders on the 
Pension Office. 

Legislative and 
Regulatory 
Developments
Since the introduction of the 4th and 5th 
amendments to the Pension Act in 2019 to facilitate 
the utilization of pension funds for obligatory Hajj, no 
amendments were made to the law. 

The Regulation on 
Determining the Pensionable 
Wage was revised and 
gazetted on 25th February 
2021. This Regulation 
determines the Pensionable 
Wage of MRPS and specifies 
detailed guidelines applicable 
to the Pensionable Wage. 

NEW CASES IN 2021

A claim initiated against the Pension Office in 
Fuvahmulah Magistrate Court on 05th October 2020 
was concluded on 16th December 2021. This case 
related to a claim for backdated payment of Basic 
Pension and the Court held that the claimant was not 
owed any such payments as per the applicable 
regulations.  

During the year, 448 court hearings of cases 
involving the Pension Office were scheduled. The 
majority of cases involving the Pension Office were 
held in the Civil Court. In addition, court hearings 
were scheduled in the Fuvahmulah Magistrate Court. 

MAGISTRATE COURT 

COURT CASES AGAINST THE 
PENSION OFFICE

COURT HEARINGS
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Public
Relations

Public Relations Department is responsible for conducting campaigns through various 
mediums to raise awareness about the pension system, strengthen stakeholder relations, 
organize events, and disseminate up-to-date information on services of the Pension 
Office  through its website and social media platforms. Details of the activities conducted 
by PR for the year 2021 are as follows:  

The sessions were focused on providing information related to Maldives Pension System, importance of saving for 
retirement, services of Pension Office  and ways to seek additional information and assistance on services of Pension 
Office

To create awareness amongst the general public on Maldives Pension System and MRPS  information was 
disseminated through TV, Radio, local newspapers and outdoor advertising services. 

Induction Program of Civil 
Service Training Institute 

Participants:

No of Participants:

INFORMATION SESSIONS

EMPLOYEES

60

TV/Radio Programs

No of Programs
Duration

04
4 Programs 

TVCommercials 

No of Programs
Duration

03
Throughout the year 

Outdoor Advertisements  

No of Programs
Duration

03
3 months 

Introductory sessions for newly 
registered members of MRPS by 
Pension Office 

Participants:

No of Participants:

EMPLOYEES

40

Sessions for Students 

Participants:

No of Participants:

STUDENTS

75

Sessions organised by 
Employers 

Participants:

No of Participants:

EMPLOYEES

30

MEDIA
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Popular social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and Linkedin were used to disseminate 
information and news related to the pension system of Maldives. This included a “Pension Quiz” conducted through 
Facebook reaching more than 18,000 participants.

SOCIAL MEDIA

RANVEYLA PROGRAM

Pension Office participated and conducted an 
information session in the financial webinar, organised 
by Maldives Monetary Authority to mark the Global 
Money Week. The session was focused on the 
importance of financial independence and how MRPS 
helps individuals to save for their retirement. 

GLOBAL MONEY WEEK

Under the memorandum of understanding 
signed between the Pension Office and 
the Ministry of Gender, Family and Social 
Services, Ranveyla Program was 
continued in 2021. Information sessions 
targeted for the elderly were conducted in 
Noonu Atoll from 6-10 October 2021.

Pension Office participated in the activities to mark the 
World Investor week organised by the Capital Market 
Development Authority held from 4-10 October 2021. 
Information related to MRPS was provided to 
participants of this event. 

INVESTOR WEEK
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An event to launch “Koshaaru Portal” was held on 1 December 2021 to mark the digitalisation of all the services of 
Pension Office, thereby making all the services available online. During this event an information session was held 
to employers on using the new Koshaaru Portal.

KOSHAARU PORTAL LAUNCHING

Pension Office participated in the activities organised 
by the Ministry of Fisheries Marine Resources and 
Agriculture in K. Gaafaru to celebrate the Fishermen's 
day 2021. Information regarding the Maldives 
Retirement Pension Scheme and the opportunities 
available to Fishermen to participate in the scheme 
was provided to the event participants. 

FISHERMEN’S DAY PROGRAM

Pension Office calendar for 2022, was designed and 
developed with important awareness messages of 
pension office mobile application and its features.

1500 Calendars were distributed to the Private and 
Public Sector Employers.

PENSION OFFICE 2022 CALENDAR
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Pension Office in association with AA. Feridhoo Council organised an event to mark the International Day of Older 
Persons in AA. Feridhoo. The two day event held from 24-25 September 2021, included a family evening, 
information sessions, sports activities and a special function for the senior citizens  of AA.Feridhoo.

The event was joined by the Ministry of Gender, Family and Social Services, Maldives Senior Citizens Association, 
Society for Health Education (SHE) and government offices and other institutes in AA.Feridhoo.

CELEBRATING INTERNATIONAL DAY OF OLDER PERSONS
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At the invitation of the Ministry of Gender Family and Social Services, Pension Office participated and carried out 
special activities in the family evening held at K.Guraidhoo on 1st November 2021, to mark National Grandparents 
Day. These activities were aimed at promoting a healthy lifestyle among elderly and providing information on 
Pension schemes and services of Pension Office for families and individuals who participated in the event. 

NATIONAL GRANDPARENTS DAY CELEBRATIONS 

Under a new CSR Policy, Pension Office provided financial assistance to the following 

Assisted the Maldives 
Senior Citizen’s 
Association in hiring an 
administrative staff for a 
period of one year. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY HIGHLIGHTS 

Partnered with the Ministry 
of Gender, Family and 
Social Services in 
conducting the Ranveyla 
Campaign held in 4 islands 
of Noonu Atoll; Maafaru, 
Kedhikulhudhoo, Kudafari 
and Maalhendhoo. 

Sponsored a component of 
Accountant’s Forum 
organized by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants 
of the Maldives. 

Sponsored a component of 
the NGO Forum held in 
Fuvahmulah City by the 
Ministry of Youth, Sports 
and Community 
Empowerment. 
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Member Services
Member Services Department is responsible for 
receiving and responding to queries & complaints 
submitted to Pension Office through various 
communication channels, entry of documents & 
application forms into the systems. In addition, 
Member Services issues documents requested by 
Pensioners and members.

Important statistics for the department in 2021 
include: 

Information
Technology
Information Technology Department is responsible for 
management of “Koshaaru” system, other internal 
systems and databases, maintaining IT cloud 
infrastructure, providing technical assistance, 
Management Information System (MIS) reporting, 
developing software, providing software related 
training and maintaining the Pension Office website 
and applications. 

Significant works in the IT field were executed by the 
Data and Application Department of the Pension 
Office in 2021.  Major developments during the 
period were as follows:

Improvements to the MPAO Mobile application 
addressed the following features:

Pending allocation amount to show pending 
unitization amount.

Support for visually impaired

Updated the versions of the dependent 
packages for security reasons

Pension Application Form

Contact Information Update Form

Bank Account Update Form

Portfolio Change Request Form

MPAO MOBILE APP - RELEASE 
VERSION 2.8.0 AND 2.8.5

13,678
TICKETS INITIATED

94%
TICKETS RESOLVED

34,072
CALLS RECEIVED 

71%
CALL ANSWERED 

4,629
LIVE CHAT QUERIES

100%
LIVE CHAT COMPLETED

16,511

MOBILE APP USERS 
NEWLY REGISTERED
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Internal Audit of ISMS

ISMS  Internal Audit with KPMG

ISO 27001 surveillance audit with Bureauveritas

INTERNAL AUDITS CONDUCTED  - 
ISMS

IT INFRASTRUCTURE REVIEW

Enhancements to the Employer Portal developed 
during the year included:

Entire IT infrastructure review was conducted and the 
following measures were taken during the year:

Enrolment of Members in the pension system

Monthly Pension Contribution

Payments

Contribution Adjustments

Bulk Uploads

Reports

Chat

Update and Maintain Employer Profile

Employer user management

EMPLOYER PORTAL - NEW 
RELEASE

Migrate virtual machines to 
Google Cloud Run 
(Serverless technology)

Enhancements to the Employer Registration portal 
during the year included:

Automatic Employer  Registration via MED 
System (System-to-System Integration)

Manual Employer Registration (employers 
registered in institutions other than MED)

EMPLOYER REGISTRATION - NEW 
RELEASE direct cost reduction30% 

virtual machines 
migrated95%
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Internal Audit
Internal Audit function is overseen by the Chief 
Internal Auditor. This function was established to 
audit different areas of the Pension Office, report 
audit findings to CEO and Board Committees, and to 
oversee implementation of audit recommendations. 
Internal Audit continues to be a significant pillar 
within the governance framework at the Pension 
Office. 

Annual Audit plan documents the list of audit 
engagements identified and prioritised based on 
those areas viewed as the greatest risk to Pension 
Office.  The plan is considered at the beginning of 
each fiscal year and approved by ARMC. 

For the year 2021 the program consisted of five 
areas, namely two audits that remained unfinished 
from 2020 which were carried over and three new 
planned audits. The 2020 carried over audits were, 
monitoring and taking action for employer non 
compliance and FD (fixed deposit) placement 
process reviews. The audits identified for 2021 
consist of reconciliation of benefit disbursements, 
MRPS foreign payments and Investment transactions 
process. 

To provide an independent assessment on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls 
and provide recommendations for continuous 
improvement.

Facilitates detection of operational 
inefficiencies and non-compliances. 

Following-up previous audits to assess if 
remedial action has been effectively 
implemented.

Conduct investigations on an ad hoc basis as 
requested by management/ARMC.

MANDATE

ANNUAL AUDIT PLAN

By the end of the reporting period, a total of five audit 
assignments planned were delivered.  The detailed 
reports on individual audits performed are reported to 
management of the audited Division/Department and 
ARMC.

DELIVERY OF PLANNED INTERNAL 
AUDIT ACTIVITIES

The Standards of the Institute of the Internal Auditors 
require the internal audit to determine if management 
has taken appropriate action regarding issues 
disclosed in the audit report. This is imperative to 
ensure the risks identified are being managed. 

Internal audit monitors the implementation of agreed 
recommendations on a regular basis and the results 
of the follow up are reported to the appropriate level 
of management and board.  During the year 2021, 
management has generally improved its performance 
in addressing the findings and implementing 
recommendations arising from internal audit work. 

OUTSTANDING ISSUES AND 
FOLLOW-UPS

During the reporting period, annual onsite risk based 
inspection was carried out by CMDA. Key areas 
assessed by the inspection included operational 
risks, investment risks, risks to member data and 
public awareness. The inspection suggested a 
number of control and process improvements.

RISK BASED REGULATORY 
INSPECTION BY CMDA
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With the long term objective of ensuring value to our 
members at retirement, we aim to remain steadfast in 
fulfilling our mandate and strategic objectives. 
Despite the volatility created due to COVID19- 
pandemic and the resurgence during the year, we 
have kept our focus on delivering the best services to 
our members and stakeholders. On the same footing, 
we aim to achieve the following targets during the 
year 2022. 

At present, only the formal sector is mandated to 
contribute to a pension. Work is currently in progress 
to explore and implement ways to increase coverage 
especially to the informal sector and migrant workers.

INCREASING COVERAGE

Expanding member benefits is an important 
consideration for the coming years. In this regard, 
interim benefits are being explored in our efforts to 
keep member needs as a top priority. As industries 
and people in general were affected by the 
unprecedented volatility caused by the pandemic, 
our focus is on providing benefits whilst ensuring the 
financial sustainability of the scheme. 

MEMBER BENEFITS

Importance of data and data driven decisions was 
ascertained as the country aimed to develop efficient 
responses, re-assess present measures and aimed to 
recover and relaunch economic activity amidst 
COVID19- pandemic. As an organization having 
access to ample data, we aim to strengthen our data 
services and implement best practices in data 
management. Considering stakeholder needs whilst 
ensuring utmost confidentiality of member data, we 
aim to assist our stakeholders in implementing data 
based decision making. We also aim to make data 
based decisions at all our intra organizational 
processes. 

ESTABLISHING DATA SERVICES

Carried forward from 2020, identifying gaps in the 
organizational structure, strengthening the 
governance framework and reviewing all business 
processes remains a key priority. We aim to attract, 
motivate and retain the best talent in the industry 
thereby paving the way in our efforts to become an 
employer of choice. 

ORGANIZATIONAL REVIEW

OUTLOOK
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The Maldivian economy is forecasted to grow by 
upwards of 31.6% in the year 2021 compared to last 
year's decline of 33.5%. Maldives Monetary Authority 
(MMA) and the Ministry of Finance and Treasury 
(MOFT) jointly projected that the economy will 
expand beyond pre-pandemic levels and grow by a 
further 12.0% in 2022. Similar projections were made 
by international organizations such as the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank (WB) 
and Asian Development Bank (ADB).

Despite the looming fear of high inflation as a result 
of supply-side constraints across the globe, general 
price levels have remained fairly stable within the 
local economy. Overall, the economy experienced a 
0.5% increase in general price levels compared to last 
year's 1.4% deflation. Notably, there were spikes of 
3.3% and 2.7% over April 2021 and May 2021, but 
they quickly stabilized down to an average of 0.4% in 
the following months. The sudden increase was 
experienced due to price hikes in housing and 
utilities. It can be inferred that this was a market 
correction following the deflationary period in this 
sector over 2020.

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

At the height of the Covid-19 pandemic, the fiscal 
strength of the Maldivian Government was severely 
challenged. Even so, given the stimulus from all 
industries across the economy; the budget deficit 
has been reduced by 5.0% to MVR 12.82 billion 
during the year 2021. 

Central government debt increased by 47.3% 
compared to pre-pandemic levels while the national 
output decreased by 10.7% over the same period of 
time. As of 2021,  the government's outstanding debt 
stands at  103.8% of the GDP. According to Moody’s, 
the high debt level is only expected to decline 
gradually since the budget deficit is being driven by 
long-term investment projects. Based on this 
rationale, they downgraded the credit rating of the 
Maldives down to ‘Caa1’ from ‘B3’, while changing the 
outlook to stable from negative on 17th August 2021. 
However, it is important to note that Fitch upgraded 
the default rating to 'B-' from 'CCC' on 28th October 
2021. This was mainly on the basis that the Maldivian 
economy experienced a faster than expected 
recovery from the downturn caused by Covid-19 
related restrictions as a result of the sharp rebound of 
tourist arrivals.

CAPITAL MARKET AND 
FINANCIAL SECTOR 
HIGHLIGHTS
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The number of shares traded through Maldives Stock 
Exchange (MSE) and the overall volume of trade in 
the share market increased by 38.1% and 49.0%, 
respectively. The MASIX index, however, declined by 
4.1%. This was because the last traded price of major 
players like Maldives Islamic Bank PLC (MIB) and 
Ooredoo Maldives PLC (OMPL) fell during the year 
2021. However, it is important to consider that the 
average daily trading volume is still fairly low, 
indicating that the market value is unlikely to be 
representative of the actual fair value of these 
companies. 

Considering major market developments, Housing 
Development Finance Corporation (HDFC) listed a 
Sukuk valued at MVR 200 million to cater to the 
demand created by the housing developments in 
Hulhumale. Also, Capital Market Development 
Authority (CMDA) amended and published their 
“Regulation on Issuance of Securities” to introduce a 
formal market for making private placements, further 
improving the access to finance for both local and 
foreign business entities operating in the Maldives.

CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL MARKETS

Looking into the financial markets, banking assets 
stood at MVR 83.4 billion, which represents a growth 
of 21.1% year-on-year. Similarly, the deposit base of 
the banks stood at MVR 49.1 billion; this was an 
increase of 29.3% compared to the previous year. 
The overall lending, however, grew by only 7.2% over 
the same period. If the trend persists, investors will 
find it more difficult to find low-risk, fixed-income 
investment opportunities going forward. This is likely 
a by-product of risk mitigation strategies being 
employed by commercial lenders and could rebound 
in the short-run as uncertainty reduces and the 
economy recovers. 

At the end of the year 2021, the average lending rate 
by banks to the private and public sector was 11.38% 
and 8.58%, respectively. The interest on short-term 
time deposits offered by banks decreased to 2.2% on 
average and the interest on long-term bank time 
deposits also decreased to 4.4% during 2021. The 
government Treasury bill rates remained unchanged 
from the previous year.

32

Overall, the Maldivian economy has been recovering at a considerable pace and is expected to stabilize in the near 
future. Pension Office believes that the economic upswing, coupled with developments in local financial markets will 
provide future prospects for expanding MRPS investments and consequently improve member returns.
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The slow and steady recovery of the economy, and 
the reversal of the negative impact on employment 
and wages experienced during the previous year, has 
resulted in an increase in the contribution received to 
MRPS in 2021. During the year, MRPS members 
contributed a total of MVR 1.24 billion to the scheme, 
which represented an increase of 11.9% when  
compared with the previous year (2020: MVR 1.12 
billion). On average, MPRS  collected an amount of 
MVR 104 million monthly during the year which was 
an increase of MVR 11.10 million from the previous 
year (2020: Average MVR 93 million). 

During the year, a total of MVR 123 million was 
disbursed by the Pension Office to MRPS retirees. 
This represents an increase of 20.4% relative to the 
pension disbursement in the previous year (2020: 
MVR 102 million). 

In terms of the composition of the contributions 
sector wise, 59% of the total contributions were from 
the Private sector and the remaining 41% was 
received from the Public sector. The contributions 
received by the Public sector increased for the year 
by 6.0% (2021: MVR 516 million) in comparison to 
previous year (2020: MVR 487 million). Contrary to 
the fall in contributions experienced by the Private 
sector in the previous year due to the pandemic, 
there was a noteworthy increase of 16.4% in 
contributions in 2021 (MVR 738 million) in 
comparison to the previous year (2020: MVR 634 
million).

MRPS INVESTMENT
REPORT

Contributions Pension Payout

Private
Public

41%
59%

TOTAL
CONTRIBUTIONS

1.24 Billion
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MRPS CONTRIBUTIONS AND 
PENSION PAYOUTS MVR, Millions

1.24 Billion

TOTAL
CONTRIBUTIONS
2021

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED AND PENSION 
DISBURSEMENT FOR THE YEAR

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED BY SECTOR, 
IN PERCENTAGE

123 Million

TOTAL
PENSION 
PAYOUT 2021
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As the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic posed 
significant challenges to all the economic sectors 
with constrained activity and lowered profitability, this 
disturbance in the market was reflected in the 
performance of the MRPS asset classes for the year 
2021. Regardless, the total return on investment for 
the year amounted to MVR 625 million, which was an 
increase of 11.6% compared to previous year (2020: 
MVR 561 million)

While Equity remained the highest yielding asset 
class during 2021 consistent with the previous year, 
the annual return of 8.3% represented a decrease 
from the previous year (2020: 10.3%). The main 
cause for the fall in the Equity return was due to the 
decrease in the total dividend for the year, in general, 
on the shares of Ooredoo and Dhiraagu. The total 
dividend for 2021 (MVR 46.5 million) showed a 
decline of 16.2% relative to the previous year (2020: 
MVR 55.4 million). 

The slight decrease of 0.6% compared to the 
previous year in the Corporate Bond investments is 
largely attributable to the change in the coupon rates 
for the last two Bond investments made by MRPS.

MRPS PERFORMANCE

The Net Asset Value of the MRPS fund, has reached a 
total of MVR 17.4 billion by the end of 2021. This is an 
increase of 12.0% from MVR 15.5 billion in 2020. 

In terms of the performance of the individual funds, 
the Investment Fund showed a decline in return by 
0.2% in the year 2021, which is largely owing to the 
decline in the dividend received during the year on 
the equity investments made by the fund. On the 
contrary, the Sharia fund earned a return of 5.8%, 
which is an increase of 2.1% relative to the previous 
year. This is the highest recorded earnings for the 
fund to date. This significant increase is attributable 
to the receipt of dividend for previous 2-years on the 
Maldives Islamic Bank (MIB) shares which were 
deferred in the previous year pertaining to the 
pandemic.

The Conservative fund invests exclusively in Treasury 
bills and has achieved a return equivalent to the 
previous year of 4.4%. The performance of the Sharia 
Conservative fund remains stable, earning on an 
average of 3.3% since the inception of the fund.

The Recognition Bond fund represents the service 
recognition bonds awarded to government 
employees who were in service at the time of the 
Pension Act implementation in 2009. The returns are 
accrued based on the highest fixed deposit rate of 
the previous year, and the returns were accrued at 
5.0% in 2021.

Equity 46.48 8.33%

Sukuk 16.82 7.87%

Corporate Bond 8.47 6.94%

Treasury Bond 173 5.15%

Treasury Bill 355 4.52%

Fixed Deposits 16.12 4.74%

General Investments Account 8.49 4.02%

Asset Class Return on
Investment
(MVR, in Millions)

Annual
Return 

ASSET CLASS PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE OF MRPS FUNDS

Investment 12,832

Sharia 372

Conservative 456
Sharia
Conservative 7.85
Recognition
Bond 3,732

MRPS Funds Net
Assets
(MVR, in Millions)

Returns 

2021 2020
Since
Inception

INDIVIDUAL FUNDS SIZE AND PERFORMANCE 
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5.35%

3.34%

5.28%

5.24%

3.67%

4.39%

3.29%

4.80%

5.03%

5.78%

4.44%

3.38%

4.95%
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Despite the persisting economic uncertainty with the 
resurgence of the pandemic during the year, MRPS 
remained resilient and has continued to earn a 
positive investment performance. Although the return 
recorded was slightly lower than 2020 by 0.08%, the 
scheme has on average earned a return well above 
5%.   

The composition of the asset holdings increased for 
Treasury Bills, General Investments Account and 
Sukuk comprising 63.2%, 1.9% and 2.7% of the fund, 
respectively, relative to 59.7%, 1.4% and 1.7% in 2020. 

During the year, the combined asset value of the 
funds was at MVR 17.4 billion , this was a net increase 
of  12.0% from MVR 15.6 billion in the previous year. 

12-month 5.01%

3-year 5.06%

5-year 5.17%

Since Inception 5.74%

MRPS Returns 2021

MRPS PERFORMANCE, IN PERCENTAGE

MRPS FUND’S ACTIVITIES AND 
ALLOCATION

INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS IN MRPS MRPS ASSET ALLOCATIONS FOR THE 
YEAR, IN PERCENTAGE

MVR, Millions

Inflow Closing BalanceOutflow

Opening
balance

Contributions Investment
income

MRPS

Income from
Recongnition

Bond

Income from
Collaterization

New inflow
RB

Pension
Payout

Administration
Fee

Closing
Balance

15.6b

1.3b
625.9m 178.6m 1.2m 1.3m -121.6m -76.9m

17.4b

Treasury Bills
Treasury Bonds
Equity
Sukuk
Fixed Deposits
General Investment Account
Bonds
Cash

63.2%

24.9%

4.2% 2.7%
2.0%

1.9%
0.8%
0.3%
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In terms of the Investment fund composition, 33.5% 
of the funds are placed in long term investments 
which consist of Treasury bonds, equity, corporate 
bonds and Sukuks. Moreover, 66.5% of the fund is 
allocated in more liquid assets (Treasury bills, Fixed 
deposit, General Investment). 

The Investment fund is the default fund members 
contribute into unless a member opts for the Sharia 
Fund. It is also the largest fund in the MRPS by asset 
size, with a net asset value of MVR 12.8 billion at the 
end of 2021. This represents an increase of 14.1% 
relative to the previous year (2020: MVR 11.2 billion). 
The contribution inflows received by the fund was 
recorded at MVR 1.2 billion and MVR 590 million was 
earned as income from investments, which was an 
increase in income by 10.2% in comparison to income 
of MVR 535 million received in 2020.

Regarding the outflows from the Investment fund, net 
intra-fund transfers of total MVR 153 million were 
made, which represent intra-fund transfers made to 
the MRPS conservative fund subsequent to the 
retirement or death of members, and the housing 
collateralization scheme. All MRPS funds are charged 
an Administrative Fee of 0.6% to cover the costs of 
running the scheme, and during the year the 
Investment fund received an amount of MVR 72.6 
million as fees. 

Investment
Fund

INVESTMENT FUND ASSET 
ALLOCATIONS FOR THE YEAR, IN 
PERCENTAGE

Treasury Bills
Treasury Bonds
Equity
Sukuk
Fixed Deposits
Bonds
Cash
General Investment Account

63.8%26.5%

3.8%
2.1%

0.9%

0.3%
0.2%

2.3%
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The Sharia fund currently consists of General 
Investment Assets (GIA), Equity investment with 
Maldives Islamic Bank and Sukuks invested in HDFC 
with the fund’s assets comprising to be 61.1% of 
General Investment Assets, 20.7% of Equity and 
18.0% of Sukuk and a marginal position held in cash 
of 0.2% at the end of the year.

MRPS members who wish to invest their funds only in 
sharia compliant instruments can opt to choose a 
Sharia Fund to deposit their pension contributions. 
The Net Assets of the fund totaled to a value of MVR 
372 million at the end of the year which was an 
increase of 46.7% compared to the value of MVR 253 
million in the previous year. 

The contributions collected by the fund was recorded 
at MVR 31.3 million and MVR 16.2 million was earned 
as investment income. The increase in investment 
income for the fund was 95.1% relative to previous 
year (2020: MVR 8.3 million) This was largely 
contributed by the receipt of dividends from the 
equity investment made in MIB in 2019, which were 
deferred due to the pandemic in 2020. 

The significant increase in the Net Asset value of the 
fund was owed to the large amount of intra-fund 
transfers made during the year amounting to MVR 
72.7 million. This represents the switch of members 
from the Investment fund to Sharia fund and to Sharia 
Conservative fund, resulting from the retirement or 
death of members as well as the fund utilized for 
housing collateralization amounting to MVR 0.4 
million. The Administrative Fee of 0.6% charged to 
the fund resulted in MVR 1.8 million for the year.

Sharia
Fund

SHARIA FUND ASSET 
ALLOCATIONS FOR THE YEAR, IN 
PERCENTAGE

General Investment Account
Equity
Sukuk
Cash

61.1%20.7%

18.0%

0.2%
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The fund remains fully invested Cash and Cash 
Equivalents consisting of Treasury bills (99.1%) and 
holds a position in cash (0.9%), to meet the 
requirement of pension disbursement to the retirees.

The Conservative fund of MRPS is designed for the 
pension management of the MRPS members at their 
retirement.

The Net Asset Value of the fund increased by 13.6% 
during the year. The largest inflow to the fund was 
made via the Net intra-fund transfer of MVR 157 
million which represents the proceeds from 
liquidation of Recognition Bonds once the member 
retires amounting to MVR 77.9 million during 2021, 
and the transfers of the retirement savings of MRPS 
members from the Investment fund once they reach 
the retirement age of 65 years. 

A total of MVR 120 million was paid as monthly 
pension to retirees and this represented an increase 
of 19.4% when compared to previous years pension 
disbursement of MVR 100 million. The Administrative 
Fee of 0.6% charged to the fund for the year 
amounted to MVR 2.3 million.

Conservative
Fund

CONSERVATIVE FUND ASSET 
ALLOCATIONS FOR THE YEAR, IN 
PERCENTAGE

Treasury Bills

Cash
99.1%

0.9%
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The fund invests only in assets which are sharia 
compliant and comprises 95.2% of assets solely in 
General Investment Asset (GIA) instruments in the 
Maldives Islamic Bank and holds a marginal amount 
in cash for liquidity purposes which comprises a mere 
4.8% of the funds holding.

The Sharia Conservative fund was created during 
2016 to manage the investments of the retiring MRPS 
members from the conventional Sharia Fund. 

The Sharia Conservative fund received a total of MVR 
2.13 million during the year from Net intra-fund 
transfers, which included MVR 0.28 million of 
Recognition Bond liquidation and RSA balances of 
retirees of MVR 1.85 million during the year.

A total of MVR 1.12 million was paid out as pension 
benefits to the retired members compared to the 
MVR 0.92 million disbursed as pension in the 
previous year. An Administrative Fee of MVR 0.03 
million was charged on the fund during the year. At 
the end of the year the fund Net Asset Value 
accumulated to MVR 7.85 million. An increase of 
18.4% from the previous year (2020: MVR 6.63 
million).

Savings in a retirement scheme is for the long haul, during which fluctuations in the investment performance is 
expected from market volatilities that arise due to unexpected events such as the significant economic downturn 
following the recent pandemic. Despite slight reduction in the MRPS returns during the year, the scheme was able to 
generate a positive performance overall and with the majority of our investments being in the long-term horizon we are 
in a better position to offset these fluctuations over time. 

As the performance of the MRPS investments is a key determinant to the growth in the retirement savings of the 
members, Pension Office will be actively working towards the enhancement of member returns by taking initiatives to 
evolve the current asset mix by exploring the potential diversification options in the local financial market. 

Sharia Conservative
Fund

SHARIA CONSERVATIVE FUND 
ASSET ALLOCATIONS FOR THE 
YEAR, IN PERCENTAGE

General Investments Account

Cash
95.2%

4.8%
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The Housing fund was created during 2017, following 
the third amendment to Pension Act to enable MRPS 
members to utilize their retirement savings towards 
securing mortgage loans under a special housing 
collateralization scheme. The housing fund 
represents proceeds transferred to financial 
institutions under the housing collateralization 
scheme. 

During the year, a total net intra-fund transfer of MVR 
0.74 million was made between the housing fund, 
Investment fund and Sharia fund. The fund made an 
income on the collateralized funds of MVR 1.2 million 
in 2021. The Net Asset value of the fund stood at 
MVR 33.4 million at the end of the year.

Member
Benefits

HOUSING PORTFOLIO

The Hajj Scheme introduced in 2019 as a 4th 
amendment to the Pension Act, allows for the 
deduction, from the Retirement Savings Account 
(RSA) of the eligible members, towards performing 
the Hajj Pilgrimage.

During the past two years due to the ongoing 
pandemic, there has been no benefit payment made 
out of this scheme, as the strict travel restrictions 
and limitations to the pilgrims have constrained the 
performance of the Hajj. 

HAJJ SCHEME
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The Board of Pension Office is authorized to exercise 
all the powers necessary to implement its functions 
under the Pension Act and Regulations made 
thereunder. Accordingly, it is the general duty of the 
Board to oversee the administration of MRPS in the 
best interest of participants and beneficiaries as 
stipulated in the Pension Act. In addition, the Board 
has specific duties to exercise the powers set forth in 
Section 6 of the Pension Act. 

In this regard, the Board is responsible for providing 
all the information stipulated under Section 4 of the 
Pension Act. Also the Board responsibility lies in 
directing the preparation of annual financial 
statements and arranging for preparation and 
publication of these materials for public record.  

The eight Board Members representing the public 
sector and the private sector are appointed by the 
President of Maldives in accordance with Section 8 of 
the Pension Act. 

BOARD MEMBERS
REPORT

Chairperson of the Board

A senior employee of the Securities Market 
Regulator

A senior Civil Servant of the Ministry of Finance

A senior Civil Servant from the Ministry 
responsible for social security 

Four (4) members from the private sector not 
employed by the state or government

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 

The Chairperson and the 4 private sector 
representatives are nominated by the Selection 
Committee formed jointly by the Civil Service 
Commission, Ministry of Finance and the Ministry 
responsible for social security. All candidates for 
Board membership are scrutinized by the Capital 
Market Development Authority (CMDA) for regulatory 
compliance before their appointment. Board 
Members are fiduciaries of the Pension Scheme, as 
stated in Section 13 of Pension Act, and, therefore, 
have legal responsibility to the participants and 
beneficiaries of MRPS. The term of each appointed 
Board Member is 3 years and upon expiry of the 
initial term, Members may be reappointed. As per 
internal policies, a Member is allowed to 
consecutively hold membership for 2 terms of 3 
years. 
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Chairperson of the Board

Appointed on
20th June 2019 

Board Members
as of 31st December 
2021

ATHIFA
ALI

Ministry of Finance

Appointed on 
28th March 2018
Re-appointed on 

21April 2021

MARYAM ABDUL
NASIR

Securities Market Regulator

Appointed on 
4th March 2020

FATHMATH ABDULLAH 
KAMAALUDHEEN

Social Security Sector

Appointed on 
24th February 2020

SHIFAZA
WAJEEH

Private Sector

Appointed on 
23rd June 2020

UZA. LAILA
MANIK

Private Sector

Appointed on 
15th March 2021

ABDUL HALEEM
ABDUL LATHEEF
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Appointed on 15th February 
2018 as a private sector 

representative for a 3 year 
term. Noorbaan’s 3 year 

term ended on 15th 
February 2021

UZA. NOORBAAN FAHMY

Appointed on 10th December 2018  
as a private sector representative 

for a 3 year term. Abdulla 
resigned from the post on 

12th October 2021.

ABDULLA ALI
Appointed on 17th March 
2019 as a private sector 

representative for a 3 year 
term. Lu-u-lua resigned 
from the post on 12th 

October 2021

AISHATH LU-U-LUA HASSAN
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The Board is convened in accordance with applicable 
laws and the Rules of Procedure of the Board. 

The Board met 22 times in 2021. The details of 
membership and the number of meetings attended 
by each Board Member as of the end of 2021 is 
indicated in the table below:

  Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the member held office 
during the year 

Outgoing Board Members
during 2021

Board
Meetings

In order to strengthen the performance of the Board, 
specific responsibilities are delegated to 
standing-committees. By the end of 2021, there were 
4 standing-committees of the Board. 

The Committee reports including the discussions 
held and the activity reviews of the Committees 
during the year 2021 are included in this Annual 
Report. In the year 2021, no change occurred in the 
composition of the standing committees of the Board. 

Board Standing
Committees

A Special Committee of the Board was formed on 
26th August 2021. 

Based on the assessment carried out by the Special 
Committee the Board terminated the CEO's contract 
during Q4//2021.

The Board appointed Ms. Sujatha Haleem as the 
Acting CEO.

Special Committee
of the Board

Athifa Ali 22 21

Fathmath Abdulla Kamaaluddeen 22 20

Shifaza Wajeeh 22 22

Maryam Abdul Nasir 21 18

Uza. Laila Manik 22 22

Abdul Haleem Abdul Latheef 20 20

Uza. Noorbaan Fahmy 2 2

Abdulla Ali 17 17

Aishath Lu-u-lua Hassan 17 17

Board
Members

Meetings
Held

Meetings
Attended1

1

Investment Committee (IC) 

Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
(RNC) 

Innovation and Technology Committee (ITC)
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Key Board 
Decisions and
Activity Review for 2021

The Board focused on the continuation of formulating 
and reviewing the internal policies designed to 
improve the accountability and transparency of 
internal operations and procedures. In this regard the 
Board discussed, reviewed and approved the 
following in 2021; 

Approved the annual budget of 2021 at the 
beginning of the year. 

With the appointment of the new CEO, initiated a 
review of corporate documents in order to 
strengthen the processes and bring the required 
improvements. 

Approved the 2020 Annual Report of the Pension 
Office. 

Approved the Audited Financial Statements of the 
Pension Office and Maldives Retirement Pension 
Scheme for the year ended 31st December 2020.

Approved the Management Letter of the year 2020, 
subject to the recommendation provided by the 
Auditors. 

Following the implementation of the internet 
connection transformation for all staff in 2020, the 
Board reviewed the data presented by the 
management after analyzing the working situations 
and internet usage for 3 months. Further, members 
agreed to continue with the transformation on the 
basis of cost saving and operational efficiency.

Revised the ‘Regulation on determining the 
Pensionable Wage’, which determines the 
Pensionable Wage of MRPS and specifies detailed 
guidelines applicable to the Pensionable Wage. 

IMPROVING OPERATIONAL 
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE PENSION 
OFFICE

STRENGTHENING PENSION OFFICE 
GOVERNANCE

Agreed to initiate open discussions with the 
management at Committee level regarding the new 
initiatives by the CEO. Also to follow the best 
practice, agreed that particular decisions should be 
made through formal Board Committees. 

Deliberated on reviewing the organization structure 
of the Pension Office. Discussions were initiated on 
formulating a TOR for getting external support in 
conducting the review. 

Approved the annual budget of the Pension Office 
for the year 2022.

Performance Appraisal Policy

Training Bond Policy

Graduate Trainee Policy

Training and Development Policy 

Corporate Social Responsibility Policy

Maternity and Paternity Leave Policy

Policy on Internship

Policy on Succession Planning

Policy on Implementing administrative measures 
for restricted  political activities

APPROVAL OF INTERNAL POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES:
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In order to periodically assess and reflect on its 
performance in carrying out key responsibilities of 
the Board, an annual self-evaluation of the Board was 
initiated in the final quarter of 2020. 

Evaluation process allowed Board Members to step 
back from routine governance matters and candidly 
reflect on how well the Board is meeting its 
responsibilities. This self assessment assesses the 
contribution and involvement of members, and 
makes it possible to ensure that significant issues are 
properly prepared, dealt with and discussed at Board 
meetings. In this regard, to promote continuous 
improvement, Board assessment of 2021 was 
initiated during December 2021. 

As a next step toward enhancing the visibility and 
transparency of the institution, the Board deliberated 
on publishing the Pension Office Budget on the office 
website. Accordingly, the Budget was published in 
February 2021. Members further discussed taking 
measures to strengthen the Board reporting function.

In order to enhance board effectiveness, members 
agreed on initiating informal working sessions 
separate from official meetings, to have in-depth 
discussions on specific matters. Further, suggestions 
were made on conducting working sessions for 
strategic planning, to have brainstorming sessions 
and agree on certain actions to be approved at formal 
Board meetings. 

BOARD EFFECTIVENESS

Advanced Board Development & GRC Strategies 
Post Covid

Foreign Exchange, Money Markets and 
Derivatives

E-Learning on Investment of Social Security 
Funds 

E-Learning on Good Governance 

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF THE 
BOARD

Board members continued participation in virtual and 
physical training to enhance their capacity and 
experience in performing their role. Notable training 
programs participated in 2021 includes, 

BOARD TALENT MANAGEMENT

New members were oriented towards the Pension 
Office and the MRPS by providing essential 
information to assist in carrying out the roles and 
responsibilities of Board members. 

BOARD INDUCTION

Revoked the Employee Gratuity Policy as per the 
recommendation of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee.

Revoked the Policy on Conflict of Interest 
subject to ensuring that the Pension Office Code 
of Conduct covers and complies with 
requirements under applicable regulations.

POLICIES REVOKED BY THE BOARD

Reviewed the Procurement Manual and 
recommended referring to government 
procurement procedures and guidelines for 
SOEs and revising the manual to align with the 
best practices. 

Seeked advice from CMDA with regard to 
revising the Rules of Procedure of the Board in 
order to align the rules with the best practices.

REVIEW OF POLICIES & PROCEDURES
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The Board continued the process of formulating a 
new Strategic Plan of the Pension Office. Detailed 
discussions were held concentrating on the focused 
areas and new initiatives. During discussions, 
considerations were given on the importance of 
clearly defining the options, plans and mechanisms 
to secure implementation of the strategic objectives. 

During mid 2021, the Board endorsed a list of actions 
for the next 6 months and instructed management to 
start a comprehensive strategic planning process in 
the last quarter of the year. Accordingly, Board 
approved initiating the Strategic Planning Process 
and tendering for consultancy to acquire technical 
support. 

Board initiated deliberations to review the 
composition of the Board standing committee in 
order to add relevant qualifications and experience to 
help make the Committees function more efficiently. 

In 2020, the Board took the decision to extend the 
Custodian Service agreement with BML for one year. 
The Board also instructed management to seek other 
Bank options for the Custodian service. 

In this regard, the members deliberated on the bid 
evaluation report submitted by the management after 
a competitive bidding process. After careful 
consideration, the Board authorised the extension of 
the custodian agreement with BML by one more year 
as a stopgap solution. Members further discussed 
the Action Plan proposed by the Management to 
address the identified risks, ensure operational 
readiness and legal compliance before restarting the 
tendering process.

STRENGTHENING INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT OF PENSION 
OFFICE

STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS

APPOINTMENT OF CUSTODIAN TO 
PENSION FUND

REVIEW OF BOARD COMMITTEE 
COMPOSITION

The Board approved to invest MVR160 million in the 
Sukuk No.04 of HDFC. The decision was made 
after deliberating on the matter at the Investment 
Committee.

Board deliberations were made to explore the 
option of bringing external technical advisory 
support to Board Sub-Committees. In this regard, a 
decision was made for the Investment Committee 
to revise the Investment Consultant TOR that was 
approved by the Board in 2020, to include the 
technical support required after a thorough review 
of the investment department. 
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During the year, five Investment Committee meetings 
were held. Below are the attendance of the meetings. 

COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND 
ATTENDANCE

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE 
REPORT

The Investment Committee created as per section 
16(b) of the Pension Act, is the Board sub-committee 
responsible for formulating and reviewing the 
investment principles and the basic investment 
guidelines for the MRPS fund, as per the regulations 
of the Securities Market Regulator.

For the first 2 quarters of the year Mr. Abdulla Ali was 
the Chairperson of the Committee. Upon his 
completion of one year as the Chairperson of the 
Committee, Ms. Aishath Lu-u-lua Hassan was 
appointed to the position in July 2021. She remained 
the Chairperson of the Committee till October 2021. 

INTRODUCTION

The Committee comprises of three members; the 
Board member representing the Ministry of Finance 
and two members from the private sector. The 
chairpersonship of the Committee is a one year 
position, appointed on a rotating basis among the 
Committee members.

COMPOSITION

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE FROM 
JANUARY - OCTOBER 2021

Aishath Lu-u-lua Hassan

Abdulla Ali

Maryam Abdul Nasir

Uza. Laila Manik (reserve member)

01

02

03

04

The Committee was reconstituted in November 2021 
with the following members:

Maryam Abdul Nasir is the current Chairperson of the 
Committee, since December 2021.

Maryam Abdul Nasir 

Abdul Haleem Abdul Latheef

Uza. Laila Manik

01

02

03

Aishath Lu-u-lua Hassan 04

Abdulla Ali 04

Maryam Abdul Nasir 05

Uza. Laila Manik 01

Abdul Haleem Abdul Latheef 01

04

04

05

01

01

Name of 
the Member

Meetings 
Eligible to
Attend

Meetings
Attended
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Two major investment opportunities were presented 
to the Committee in 2021, HDFC Amna - Sukuk 04 
from the private sector and a Government Treasury 
Bond offered by the Ministry of Finance. The 
Committee endorsed investments in both the 
instruments with the following terms:

MAJOR INVESTMENTS

Following the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic, a risk 
assessment for MRPS fund was prepared, which 
identified that the fund might be subject to liquidity 
risk from a possible pension contribution decline. 
Thus, the Committee decided to maintain a reserve to 
mitigate the liquidity risk. Subsequently liquidity of 
the fund was regularly monitored and appropriate 
reserve adjustment decisions were made by the 
Committee. In 2021, based on recovery of 
contribution collections and the prior year’s 
contribution trend, the Committee decided to revoke 
the requirement to keep a liquidity reserve.

MAJOR ACTIVITIES OF 2021

REVIEW OF MRPS LIQUIDITY RESERVE 

During the year, the Committee reviewed the draft on 
investment diversifications and return enhancement 
options. The Committee carried out discussions 
regarding the current asset allocation composition of 
MRPS fund, potential domestic investment 
alternatives and their return. The Committee decided 
to engage with stakeholders and obtain their 
feedback.

DISCUSSION ON INVESTMENT 
DIVERSIFICATION

The Committee reviewed different options for group 
protection benefits such as life insurance, terminal 
illness and critical Illness benefits. The Committee 
decided to further evaluate benefit schemes while 
engaging with stakeholder consultations.

DISCUSSION ON MEMBER BENEFITS

Following discussions regarding the current MRPS 
asset allocation compositions and decline in 
investments in bank fixed deposits, the Committee 
decided to increase the monthly fixed deposit 
investment limit from 10% to 20% of prior month’s 
pension contributions.

REVIEWED AND APPROVED FIXED 
DEPOSIT INVESTMENT LIMIT

The Committee evaluated the adequacy of current 
MRPS Administration Fee structure and rate charged, 
and approved to keep the current structure and rate 
(0.6% of Assets Under Management) unchanged. 
The decision was based on an extensive review of 
contribution forecast, assets under management 
forecast, reserve and expenditure forecast which was 
based on budget analysis and the proposed reserve 
utilization plan. 

REVIEW OF MRPS ADMINISTRATION FEE 

MVR 459 million in a 6 year Government bond at 
5.1% semi-annual coupon rate;

MVR 160 million in HDFC Sukuk Issue no. 04 with a 
tenure of 10 years.
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The primary function is to assist the Board in fulfilling 
its oversight responsibilities. The Committee is 
entrusted with the responsibility of overseeing 
functions in relation to the external audit process, 
both the conduct and outcome. The Committee is 
also responsible for reporting to the Board in relation 
to approving the terms of engagement and scope of 
work of the external auditor. Additionally, the 
Committee is required to oversee internal audit 
processes, systems of internal control and risk 
management to ensure integrity of financial reporting 
of the Pension Office.

RESPONSIBILITIES

The Committee convened four (4) times during 2021. 
Details of the membership and their attendance at 
the meetings, are as follows:

COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND 
ATTENDANCE

AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (the 
“Committee”) is delegated by MPAO Board with 
approved terms of reference. The Committee is 
responsible to provide an independent review and 
supervision of financial reporting, internal controls, 
risk and internal and external audit of the Pension 
Office.

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview 
of the membership, summary of responsibilities and 
activities of the Committee in respect of the year 
ended 31st December 2021. During the course of the 
year, the executive management of the Pension 
Office reported to the Committee on issues related to 
audit and matters related to risk, accounting and 
financial reporting.

PURPOSE

The Committee comprised of four (4) Pension Office 
Board members. The members of the Committee that 
remained by the end of the year were:

Meetings were also attended by representatives from 
business functions as required.

COMPOSITION 

Mr. Abdul Haleem Abdul Latheef (Chairperson)

Ms. Maryam Abdul Nasir

Uza. Laila Manik

01

02

03

Abdul Haleem Abdul Latheef 03

Maryam Abdul Nasir 03

Uza. Laila Manik 04

Abdulla Ali 03

Shifaza Wajeeh 02

03

03

04

03

02

Name of 
the Member

Meetings 
Eligible to
Attend

Meetings
Attended

  Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the member held office.

1

1
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In line with the terms of reference, the work carried 
out by the Committee for the year ended are as 
follows.

2021 COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 
REVIEW

1

The Committee summarized its work during the 
year to identify how it has fulfilled the duties 
required by the Board in its Annual Activity Report. 
The Committee reviewed and approved the Report 
on 1st March 2021, which is incorporated in the 
Annual Report of 2020. 

The Committee also considered the Auditor’s 
Report and audited Financial Statements of MPAO 
and MRPS for the year ended 31st December 2020 
by KPMG. After review and discussion, on 21st April 
2021, the Committee endorsed and recommended 
it for Board approval. 

During the meeting held on 23rd June 2021, Mr. 
Abdul Haleem Abdul Latheef was appointed as 
Chairperson for a one-year period, as  Ms. Shifaza 
Wajeeh, who previously held the position was 
transferred from the Committee. 

The Committee reviewed and approved the risk 
based Annual Audit Plan, which outlines the work 
to be undertaken by the internal audit function in 
2021. For the reporting period, the Committee also 
monitored progress in implementing the plan and 
other work undertaken by the audit function.

The Committee has overseen the completion of 
audit reviews in the course of the review period. 
The audits reported and reviewed by the 
Committee in the year included operational 
compliance and enforcement process audit, fixed 
deposit placement process and review of MRPS 
foreigners payout process. The Committee 
considered the process and control improvements 
recommended as a result of audits and reviewed 
the management responses given for reports 
issued during the course of the year. 

During the review period, the Committee closely 
monitored the implementation of audit 
recommendations by the Management. To that end, 
the Committee reviewed a status update report on 
agreed outstanding audit issues and emphasized 
the importance of implementing the 
recommendations in a timely manner. 

Apart from this, the Committee also considered the 
external audit Management Letter of MRPS and 
MPAO 2020 and CMDA’s 2020 Onsite Inspection 
Report. The Committee discussed the actions 
proposed by the Management to address the 
issues raised and agreed to endorse the reports.

The Committee also discussed and reviewed the 
RFP for external auditor appointment to commence 
the selection process of an external auditor.
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REMUNERATION 
AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (RNC) 
is a Board sub-committee that assists the Board to 
oversee the strategic Human Resource Management 
matters of the Pension Office. The Committee also 
oversees the nomination and appointment of 
Executive Management positions.

INTRODUCTION

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
COMMITTEE

RNC comprises of three (3) Board Members. 
Additionally a reserved member is also identified from 
the Board Members.

COMPOSITION 

Ms. Athifa Ali Chairperson

Ms. Shifaza Wajeeh (from 17 March 2021
onwards)

(from 17 March 2021
onwards)

Committee Member

Vacant Committee Member

Uza. Laila Manik Committee Reserve Member

Name of  the Member Lorem Ipsum

KEY FUNCTIONS OF RNC

RNC MEMBERS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021

OUTGOING MEMBERS OF RNC MEMBERS 
DURING 2021

Assist the Board in ensuring that the Board and 
Executive Committee retain an appropriate 
structure, size and balance of skills to support the 
strategic objectives.

Determining the remuneration and benefits 
packages offered to the Board Members and 
employees and overseeing the review of 
remuneration and benefits structure.

Overseeing the policies and processes relevant to 
nomination and appointment of executives to top 
management level positions.

Uza. Noorbaan Fahmy - her tenure as a Board 
member of Pension Office and RNC ended on 15 
February 2021 as she completed her 3 year term.

Ms. Aishath Lu-u-lua Hussain - her tenure as a 
Board Member of Pension Office and RNC ended 
on 12 October 2021 as she resigned from her post. 

Three (3) meetings of RNC were held in 2021. The 
table below details the attendance of the Committee 
members.

COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Athifa Ali 03

Uza. Noorubaan Fahmy 01

Aishath Lu-u-lua 02

Shifaza Wajeeh 02

Uza. Laila Manik -

03

01

02

02

02

Name of 
the Member

Meetings 
Eligible to
Attend

Meetings
Attended1
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The highlights of the RNC decisions in 2021 are as 
follows:

With the aim of strengthening governance and 
effectiveness of the Board and Individual Directors 
and Board Committees: the following were discussed 
in the RNC.

COMMITTEE ACTIVITY 
HIGHLIGHTS OF 2021

Committee discussed the need to further 
strengthen Board and Pension Office governance, 
and in this regard the members agreed to develop a  
Terms of Reference (TOR) to recruit a 
consultant/consultancy firm with the aim of 
strengthening the effectiveness of the Board, and 
the Board Committees in carrying out the 
responsibilities effectively and efficiently in areas of 
governance, risk and strategy of the Pension Office.

STRENGTHENING GOVERNANCE AND 
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE BOARD

The Committee initiated discussion on MIB Director’s 
Performance as per the Nominee Directorship Policy, 
which states that the Committee shall review the 
performance of the Nominee director annually. In this 
regard, the Committee requested the CEO to develop 
a reporting mechanism of the Nominee Director 
through the Investment Committee and to present 
the final document once passed by the Investment 
Committee to RNC.

The referred process was ongoing at the end of 2021.

All the above listed policies were approved by the 
board during the year 2021.

Further Telecommuting Policy and Retention 
Allowance Policy were discussed in the RNC during 
2021.

MIB NOMINEE DIRECTOR’S PERFORMANCE

Committee initiated discussion on CEO recruitment 
planning and agreed to review the previous 
recruitment document and process and to finalise a 
timeline for CEO recruitment.

The CEO recruitment timeline and plan was carried 
forward to 2022.

CEO RECRUITMENT PLANNING

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Strengthening Governance

Committee discussed the need to further 
strengthen the Board Committee functions and to 
identify skill gaps within the Board Committees. 
Committee members discussed the possibilities of 
hiring external consultants/consultancy to the 
Committee if and when required to fulfill the current 
skill gaps. Committee members also requested the 
management to discuss with Capital Market 
Development Authority (CMDA) and to get their 
inputs on the current Board Member appointment 
process of Pension Office to ensure Board skill 
gaps are addressed accordingly in new 
recruitments.

Board Committee membership and 
resource gaps

Review and recommendation of the Graduate 
Trainee Policy

Review and recommendation of Policy on Internship

Review and recommendation of Maternity and 
Paternity Leave Policy

Review and recommendation of Policy on 
Succession Planning

Review and recommendation of Corporate Social 
Responsibility Policy

Review and recommendation of Policy on 
Implementing Administrative Measures for 
Restricted Political Activities.

Review and recommendation to repeal the Gratuity 
Policy.
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INNOVATION AND 
TECHNOLOGY
COMMITTEE REPORT
The authority for the Innovation and Technology 
Committee (the “Committee”) comes from the Board 
of Maldives Pension Administration Office (Pension 
Office) which established the Committee as part of 
its governance framework. The Terms of Reference 
(TOR) of the Committee approved by the Board 
determines the authority and responsibility of the 
Committee so that it may function effectively within 
the institution.

The Committee was established on 17th July 2018 on 
the Board's 149th meeting and the Committee 
reports to the Board of Pension Office on a quarterly 
basis or as required by the Board.

INTRODUCTION

The Committee composition comprised 4 members 
including 2 members of the Pension Office Board, 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Technology 
Officer (CTO) of Pension Office. 

The Board Members appointed by the Board to the 
Innovation and Technology Committee during the 
year 2021 includes the following;

The Committee Chair has the discretion to invite 
subject experts, internal/external auditors etc to 
participate in the Committee meetings. 

COMPOSITION

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board in 
overseeing the strategic direction of innovation, 
technology and information security management of 
the Pension Office. The Committee ensures that the 
technology and security related policies, projects and 
investments align with broader strategic goals and 
priorities. The Committee further assists in 
monitoring emerging technology risks and 
opportunities.

THE ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE 

Board Member, Uza. Noorbaan Fahmy

Appointed as a member of the Committee on 13th 
August 2018
Chairperson of the Committee from 27th October 
2019 until the end of her term as a Board Member in 
February 2021. 

Board Chairperson, Athifa Ali

Appointed as a member of the Committee on 17th 
August 2020. 

Board member, Shifaza Wajeeh

Appointed as a reserve member of the Committee on 
17th August 2020. 

Board Member, Abdul Haleem Abdul Latheef

Appointed as a member of the Committee on 17th 
March 2021. 
Appointed as the Chairperson of the Committee on 
31st March 2021 for a period of one year.
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IMPROVING OPERATIONAL 
EFFECTIVENESS AND EFFICIENCY OF THE 
IT FUNCTION

DATA & APPLICATION DEPARTMENT

MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
COMMITTEE

The Committee is entrusted with the responsibility 
of agreeing and reviewing the implementation of 
major technology innovation strategies, to provide 
assurance that they support the overall strategy 
and underpin future business growth. The 
Committee is also responsible for reviewing and 
endorsing the significant technology initiatives of 
the Pension Office.

With regard to the technology risk, the Committee 
is entitled to review the major operational and 
specific risk exposures, concentrating on the risk 
assessment guidelines and policies. The committee 
has the discretion to engage external consultants 
to validate the effectiveness of technology risk 
management when and where necessary. 

The Committee is further responsible for monitoring 
the implementation of significant technology 
projects and initiatives and assesses the adequacy 
of workforce capabilities and recommends 
strategies for the development. This also includes 
determining and monitoring Information Security 
and other Information Technology related policies 
and practices to ensure effectiveness and 
accuracy. 

Disciplinary actions with regard to all violations and 
attempted violations of the Pension Office 
Information Security Management System Policy by 
the employees of Pension Office will be instituted 
by the HR department in consultation with the 
Committee.

The Committee convened 3 times during the financial 
year 2021. Details of the membership and their 
attendance at the meetings, are as follows:

COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND 
ATTENDANCE

In line with the Terms of Reference of the Innovation 
and Technology Committee, the work carried out by 
the Committee for the year were are as follows;

Similar to the previous years, updates of ongoing 
tasks of the Data & Application Department and 
the planned tasks for the next quarter were 
reviewed by the Committee on a quarterly basis. 

INNOVATION & TECHNOLOGY 
COMMITTEE ACTIVITY REVIEW OF 
2021

Uza. Noorbaan
Fahmy 00

Abdul Haleem
Abdul Latheef 03

Athifa Ali 03

John Grindall 02

Sujatha Haleem 01

00

03 31 Mar 2021 to
date

03 17 Aug 2020 to
date

02 24 Dec 2020 to 
12 Oct 2021

01 12 Oct 2021 to
date

Name of 
the Member

Committee Chair 13 Aug 2018 to 
15 Feb 2021

Committee Chair

Member

Member /
Chief Executive Officer 

Member /
Acting Chief Executive Officer 

Ahmed Shafeez 03 03 17 Jul 2018 to
date

Non-voting Member / 
Chief Technology Officer 

Shifaza Wajeeh 03 02 17 Aug 2020 to
date

Reserve Member

Member
Designation Held Attended1

Committee
tenure 

  Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the member held office 
in the year 

1
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DEVELOPMENT OF THE EXISTING 
ORGANIZATIONAL PROCESS 
DOCUMENTATION USING BUSINESS 
PROCESS MODELING NOTATION (BPMN)

Management’s proposal of developing process 
documentation using BPMN was reviewed at the 
Committee level. After careful consideration the 
Committee agreed with management to go ahead 
with the development of the process maps. 
Consideration was given to the fact that this level 
of standardized process documents will assist the 
process owners, analysts, performers and also IT 
engineers and Board members to understand the 
organizational processes easily. 

ISMS AUDIT FOR 2020
ISMS audit is a mandatory requirement by 
ISO27001 and required to be conducted by a 
certified Auditor. In its first meeting of the year, 
the Committee deliberated on the major 
non-conformities highlighted in the ISMS audit for 
2020 conducted by the KPMG. 

Audit recommendations were fixed and 
communicated where necessary. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FOR ISO 27001:2013 
ISMS  

In order to ensure the Pension Office ISMS meets 
the goals and objectives of the Pension Office, 
internal audits are scheduled annually, under ISO 
27001 certification. 

Activities of the ISMS internal audit includes 
assessing the ISMS and related activities, 
processes, procedures and documentations. Also 
confirms the Pension Office ISMS is inline with the 
requirements of the ISO 27001 standard and 
confirms effective implementation and 
maintenance of the ISMS. 

APPOINTMENT OF INFORMATION 
SECURITY OFFICER (ISO)

Committee deliberated on the major activities 
carried out by the Data and Application 
Department. During the year suggestions were 
discussed on providing updates to the Committee 
in a summarized form as a method to monitor the 
progress of planned activities for the quarter in 
terms of deliverables. 

Committee reviewed the decision of the Board to 
appoint an Information Security Officer (ISO) as a 
requirement of ISO 27001. Committee members 
suggested that the Information Security Officer 
should be independent with specific tasks. 

Further considering the critical data handled by 
the Pension Office, the Committee agreed to 
proceed with the appointment of the Information 
Security Officer (ISO) for one year. From an 
auditing perspective, members also agreed that 
the position is critical and advised management to 
review the best practices followed by similar 
organizations. 

Management faced challenges in acquiring the 
right talent for the position. Committee discussed 
the concerns raised by the management with 
regard to the risks identified in getting the 
appropriate human capital and retaining IT staff. 
Committee recommended re-thinking and 
reviewing the staff retaining policies and 
instructed Management to propose options on a 
way forward to the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee of the Board and address the matter 
formally. 

1
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KOSHAARU TRANSFORMATION

INFORMATION SECURITY MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEMS (ISMS), IT SECURITY AND IT 
RELATED SYSTEMS

Committee deliberated on the findings of the 
Audit carried out in the last quarter of 2021. 

Management proposed to appoint ISMS Internal 
Auditors for a 3 year period, as the audit was a 
requirement for maintaining the certification. After 
considering management's proposal the 
Committee agreed for a 3 year cycle for the 
engagement of Auditors for the Internal Audit of 
ISO 27001:2013 ISMS.

Pension Office Information Security Management 
Systems are reviewed and discussed extensively at 
Committee meetings. This is one of the main 
responsibilities of the Committee and priority is given 
to monitor, review and assess all the ISMS policies, 
procedures and other related matters along with 
assessing the operational and reputational risks 
associated with the Pension Office.

Considering this critical function, Committee 
members agreed that a Graphical Dashboard (with 
agreed parameters) be maintained with independent 
oversight in order to adhere to the responsibilities of 
the Committee efficiently. The main understanding is 
producing detailed and specific reports that will 
depict a summary of critical matters that need to be 
addressed. 

In order to have a clear visualization of the 
information provided to the Committee, members 
also recommended sharing quarterly comparisons of 
identified risks and a summary of how the testing for 
these risks are conducted, on a regular basis. 

With reference to the Committee discussions, 
following areas were incorporated; 

Further, the Committee deliberated on the current 
procedures in place to address the IT related risks 
and specific agreements between agencies when 
sharing the information.

Based on the recommendations of the Committee to 
elaborate on the major factors of the Koshaaru 
system development with proper justification, 
management proposed a work plan on the matter for 
Committee deliberation and the discussions 
continued during the year 2021. 

During the year, Committee discussed the following 
at great length; 

Information on IT security and IT related 
systems

Top 5 IT related risks, along with security and 
other risks

Applications (address critical software bugs and 
additional features)

Critical Data and Information issues

Cost of Infrastructure and Internet

ISO 27001 Controls Measurement

Importance of an oversight function before the 
actual implementation of the project.

Ways of monitoring the functions and criticality 
of in-depth assessments.

Risks associated with the project in terms of 
resources and governance. 
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REDESIGNING OF THE KOSHAARU PORTAL 
AND RELATED SERVICES

After careful deliberation on the matter, Committee 
made the following recommendations; 

Further, as a way forward the Committee instructed 
management to put forward a Board decision paper 
including; 

In order to support the new business requirements, 
re-engineering of the Portal was required and 
measures were taken to strengthen and extend the 
services of Koshaaru system. In this regard 
redesigning of the portal was initiated in 2020.

In 2021, management demonstrated to the 
Committee the new features added to the portal. 
Consideration was given that this development will 
allow the Pension Office to integrate with internal 
services with the aim of having a central point to 
interact with the MRPS members.

Recommendations were made by the Committee to 
ensure handling of implications that this development 
will have on the existing agreements and support 
services, when it comes to integrations with the 
systems internally. This is to make sure that there are 
no interdependencies on the main Koshaaru system. 

New Koshaaru portal was launched to the public on 
1st December 2021. To better understand the 
developments, a separate session (a walkthrough of 
the Koshaaru portal) was held for Board members 
during the last quarter of 2021, at the request of the 
Committee. 

To provide clarity on the Koshaaru project plan 
timeline.

Rethink ways to make the current internal audit 
function effective. 

Develop a governance structure to cover the 
risks involved and ways to mitigate risks.

Explore options for external subject matter 
expertise and to clearly define the scope and 
requirements. 

Clear presentation of alternative options 
explored by the management and referred 
sources on Pension administration systems, 
with recommendation and justification.

Entire project costing of the existing Koshaaru 
implementation and the cost of the 
transformation. 
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ARMC
BML
CEO

CMDA
HDFC

HR
IIAS
IPO
ISO

ISSA
IC
IT

ITC
MCB
MED
MIB

MMA
MRPS 
OMPL 
RAMP

RFP
RNC
RSA
SAA

SDFC
SOE
SOIP
SOP
SPC

Audit and Risk Management Committee

Bank of Maldives 

Chief Executive Officer 

Capital Market Development Authority 

Housing Development Finance Corporation Limited

Human Resources

International Internal Audit Standards`

Initial Public Offering 

International Organization for Standardization

International Social Security Association 

Investment Committee

Information Technology 

Innovation and Technology Committee 

Mauritius Commercial Bank

Ministry of Economic Development

Maldives Islamic Bank

Maldives Monetary Authority 

Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme 

Ooredoo Maldives Private Ltd

Reserve Advisory and Management Partnership

Request for Proposal

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Retirement Savings Account

Strategic Asset Allocation

SME Development Finance Corporation

State Owned Enterprise 

Statement of Investment Principles 

Standard Operating Procedure 

Statement of Pension Contribution

Maldives Pension Administration Office Annual Report 2021

GLOSSARY 
58



Maldives Pension Administration Office Annual Report 2021 59

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 





Partners: H M A Jayesinghe FCA FCMA, A P A Gunasekera FCA FCMA, A Herath FCA, D K Hulangamuwa FCA FCMA LLB (Lond)
Resident Partners: M Rengaraj FCA ACMA, H W A T D Hapugoda ACA, N Jayasinghe ACA ACMA, Ms. D Nizar ACCA, S Ramanan FCCA ACMA

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants
G. Shafag, 2nd Floor
Rahdhebai Magu
Malé, Republic of Maldives

Tel: +960 332 0742
   eymv@lk.ey.com
   ey.com
   Reg. No: P0192/1995

TDH/CY

Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Directors of
Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No. 8 of 2009)
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Maldives Pension Administration Office (“MPAO”) which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of income,
statement of changes in accumulated fund and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the MPAO as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the MPAO in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of
this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the MPAO’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the



Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
(Continued)

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the MPAO or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the MPAO’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the MPAO’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the MPAO’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the MPAO to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

[

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

11 April 2022
Male’
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
(Administered by Maldives Pension Administration Office)
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme (“MRPS”) which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
MRPS as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the MRPS in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.
The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the MRPS’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the MRPS or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the MRPS’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the MRPS’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the MRPS’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the MRPS to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

[

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

11 April 2022
Male’
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